
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
HISTORIC RESOURCES BOARD 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
Monday, November 16, 2015 

3:00 p.m.  Tour 
4:00 p.m. Open Session   

 
City Hall Council Chambers 

East side of Monte Verde Street 
Between Ocean and Seventh Avenues 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:    ERIK DYAR, CHAIR  
      GREGORY CARPER 
      ELINOR LAIOLO  
      KATHRYN GUALTIERI 
      JULIE WENDT 
 
B.  TOUR OF INSPECTION 
 
Shortly after 3:00 p.m., the Board will leave the Council Chambers for an on-site Tour of 
Inspection as noted on “applications” section of the agenda.  The public is welcome to 
follow the Historic Resource Board on its tour of the subject sites. The Board will return to 
Council Chambers at 4:00 p.m., or as soon thereafter as possible.  
 
C.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
D.  APPEARANCES 
 
Anyone wishing to address the Board on matters within the jurisdiction of the Board may do 
so now.  Please state the matter on which you wish to speak.  Matters not appearing on the 
Board’s agenda will not receive action at this meeting, but may be referred to staff for a future 
meeting.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes, or as established by the Board.  
Persons are not required to give their name or address, but it is helpful for speakers to state 
their name in order that the Secretary may identify them. 
  
E.   CONSENT AGENDA 
 

1. Consideration of the minutes of August 18, 2015 Historic Resources Board Meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Historic Resources Board - Agenda 
November 16, 2015 

Page 1 
1



 
 
F.  ITEM 
 
 
1.   APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
      Scott Lonergan 
      NE Cor. Dolores & 12th  
      Block: 131, Lot: 14 
      APN: 010-154-005 

 

 Appeal of an Administrative Decision (APP 
15-292) to add an existing residence to the 
City’s Historic Inventory 

2.   DS 15-302 (Hitch) 
      Thomas Hitch 
      San Carlos 2 SW of 11th   
      Block: 131, Lot: 3 
      APN: 010-154-011 

 

 Consideration of a Design Study (DS 15-
302) application for alterations to a historic 
residence located in the Single Family 
Residential (R-1) Zoning District 

 
   
G.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

1. Update on Forest Theater Landmark Designation  
 
 
H. SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT 
 

1. Update on Mid-Century Modern Subcommittee 
 
I. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 

J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS 
  
 
K.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Historic Resources Board 
regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public inspection in the 
Planning and Building Department located at City Hall, on Monte Verde between Ocean 
and 7th Avenues during normal business hours. 
 
The next regular meeting of the Historic Resources Board is TBD. 
      
The City of Carmel-by-the-Sea does not discriminate against persons with disabilities.  The 
City of Carmel-by-the-Sea Telecommunication’s Device for the Deaf/Speech Impaired 
(TDD) number is 1-800-735-2929. 
 

Historic Resources Board - Agenda 
November 16, 2015 

Page 2 
2



 
 
The City Council Chambers is equipped with a portable microphone for anyone unable to 
come to the podium.  Assisted listening devices are available upon request to the Board 
Secretary.  If you need assistance, please advise the Board Secretary what item you 
would like to comment on, and the microphone will be brought to you. 
 
 
AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 

I, Marc E. Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director, for the City of 
Carmel-by-the-Sea, DO HEREBY CERTIFY, under penalty of perjury under the laws of the 
State of California, that the foregoing notice was posted at the Carmel-by-the-Sea City Hall 
bulletin board, posted at the Harrison Memorial Library on Ocean and Lincoln November 
10, 2015. 
 
Dated this 10, day of November, 2015, at the hour of 3:00 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director 

      
 
 

Historic Resources Board - Agenda 
November 16, 2015 

Page 3 
3



MINUTES 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 
HISTORIC RESOURCES BOARD 

August 17, 2015 
 

City Hall Council Chambers 
East side of Monte Verde Street 

Between Ocean and Seventh Avenues 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

The meeting was called to order by Chair Erik Dyar at 3:30 p.m.  

PRESENT:  Erik Dyar, Chair  
Gregory Carper, Vice Chair 
Elinor Laiolo 
Kathryn Gualtieri 
Julie Wendt 

 
ABSENT:  None 

  
 STAFF PRESENT: Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director 

Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner  
Cortina Whitmore, Historic Resources Board Secretary 
 

B. TOUR OF INSPECTION 
 

The Board left to tour the following project sites:   
 

DR 15-238 (Ikeda), Santa Rita St. 9 SE Ocean Ave 
 

The Board returned to City Hall to begin the regular meeting at 4:00 p.m.  Chair Dyar 
reconvened the meeting and called for a roll call.  Board Members Dyar, Carper, Laiolo, 
and Gualtieri were noted as present.  Board Member Wendt was absent.  
Chair Dyar called for roll call at 4:00 p.m.   
 

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
 Members of the audience joined the Board in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
D. APPEARANCES 
 

Planning Commissioner, Ian Martin introduced A Town of Divine Proportion: The Golden 
Rectangles of Carmel-By-The-Sea written by Mr. Martin. Mr. Martin’s historical report  

4



 
E. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

• Consideration of the minutes of May 18, 2015 Historic Resources Board Meeting 
 
Board Member Carper noted a correction on pg. 4 to remove Mr. Carver’s name and 
replace with Julie Wendt. 
 

Board Member Gualtieri moved to approve the draft minutes from the May 18, 2015 
Historic Resources Board Meeting.  Motion seconded by Board Member Liaolo and 
carried by the following roll call vote: 

AYES: COMMISSIONERS: DYAR, CARPER, LAIOLO, GUALTIERI, & WENDT   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 

 
 
F. APPLICATIONS 

 
1. DR 15-238 (Ikeda)  

           Donna Ikeda  
           Santa Rita St. 9 SE Ocean Ave 
           Block: 82, Lot: 20  
           APN: 010-043-009  

 Consideration of a Design Study (DS 15-238) 
for alterations to a historic residence located 
in the Single-Family Residential (R-1) Zoning 
District 

Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director presented the staff 
report and summarized the project. Mr. Wiener noted Applicant has been asked to 
inform the Planning and Building Dept. on which of the original windows to be reused.    

 
Chair Dyar opened the public hearing at 4:07p.m. 
 
Speaker #1: Applicants Thomas Hood clarified the proposed design concepts and 
modifications and confirmed three original windows will be reused.   
 
Speaker #2: Harlan Bradley provided more clarification to the window reuse and 
placement options.  
 
Seeing no other speakers, the public hearing was closed at 4:16 p.m. 
 
Board Members held discussion regarding window placement and asked follow-up 
questions to Applicants. 
 
Public hearing reopened at 4:20 p.m. 

5



 
Speaker #1: Thomas Hood noted he is in favor of the window suggestions given by the 
Board. 

  
Seeing no other speakers, the public hearing was closed at 4:25 p.m. 
 
Board Members completed discussion regarding 15-238 (Ikeda). 
 
Board Member Gualtieri moved to approve DS 15-238 (Ikeda) conditions: 1,2,4,5 and 
eliminate #3.  Motion seconded by Board Member Liaolo and carried by the following 
roll call vote: 

AYES: COMMISSIONERS: CARPER, LAIOLO, GUALTIERI, DYAR & WENDT   
NOES: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSENT: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 
ABSTAIN: COMMISSIONERS: NONE 

 
  
G.  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

• Update from the Interim Director, Marc Wiener 

  

H.  SUBCOMMITTEE REPORT   

I. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
 No items. 
 
J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
K. ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned 
at 4:45 p.m. 

 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Cortina Whitmore, Admin Coordinator rector  
 
 ATTEST: 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Erik Dyar, Chair 

6



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

November 16, 2015 

 
To: Chair Dyar and Board Members 

From:  Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 

Subject:  Appeal of Administrative Decision (APP 15-292) to add an existing 
residence located in the Single Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District to 
the City’s Historic Resources Inventory. 

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends that the residence be added to the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources 
 
Application: APP 15-292 Appellant:  Scott Lonergan 
Block:  131 Lot:  14 
Location: Northeast Corner Dolores Street and 12th Ave 
APN:  010-154-005 
 
Background:  
 
The subject property is located at the northeast corner of Dolores Street and Twelfth Avenue 
and is developed with a 1,042-square foot vernacular-style residence that was built in 
1929/1930 by one of Carmel’s Designer/Builders, Mr. Frederick Bigland (1889 – 1971).  Mr. 
Bigland is listed in the Historic Context Statement as one of the notable Designers and Builders 
of Carmel.  The residence was constructed for Mr. Lloyd Miller (thus reference to the “Lloyd C. 
Miller Cottage” in DPR Form 523), an early Carmel gas station owner/operator.  There is also an 
approximately 352 square foot detached garage that was also built in 1930 by Mr. Bigland.     
 
On April 17, 2014, the property owners: David and Bonnie Wolfe, submitted an application (HR 
14-07) to the City for historic review of their residence. The City contracted Historic 
Preservation Consultant, Kent Seavey, to review the property.  Mr. Seavey prepared an analysis 
using Department of Parks and Recreation Form 523 (DPR Form 523 - refer to Attachment A) 

7



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
and recommends that the property be added to Carmel’s Historic Inventory under California 
Register Criterion #3, in the area of architecture, as the only identified example of a primarily 
vernacular residential design by the noted Carmel Designer/Builder.  Mr. Seavey notes that 
some changes have occurred to the residence over time, including the unpermitted in-kind 
replacement of the shingle siding in 2009.  However, Mr. Seavey concludes that the residence 
retains sufficient physical integrity.    
 
On June 17, 2015, the owner of the subject cottage submitted an Appeal of Administrative 
Decision (APP 15-292) application to the City to reverse the nomination of the subject 
property’s Historical Designation.  The property owners have retained the services Anthony 
Kirk, Ph.D., Architectural Historian, to review and comment on the Seavey DPR form 523 report 
(Refer to Attachment B).  Staff has scheduled this matter for the Historic Resources Board to 
review and determine whether the property should qualify as historically significant and be 
added to the City’s Historic Inventory.  Staff notes that the property was subsequently sold to 
Scott Lonergan, who requested that City staff continue to process the appeal rather than add 
the residence to the City’s Historic Inventory.    
 
Permit History  
 
The following is a list of permits and alterations that have been made to the buildings on the 
property. 
 

• Permit CBP #2195 (1929) – Construction of the existing cottage and garage by Mr. 
Bigland; 

• Affidavit of Cost of Structure – (1930) (a post construction requirement of the city to 
determine property valuation; references Mr. Bigland); 

• Permit CBP #4281 (1965) – Kitchen remodel (no indication in files that building 
dimensions were altered from original footprint of 1930).  Roof indicates in permit to be 
“shingle” without stating to be wood or composite; and 

• Permit CBP #96-84 (1996) – Re-roof 
• 2009 - the previous property owner replaced the original wood shingle exterior with 

new.  This work was conducted by previous property owner without benefit of historic 
study of the cottage or a permit.  No permits are on file at the City for this work. 

 
 
 

8



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
Department of Parks and Recreation Form 523 
 
As stated by Mr. Seavey, this Lloyd Miller Cottage is a previously unknown project by Mr. 
Bigland and from an important period of residential design in Carmel.  Mr. Bigland was an 
important contributor to Carmel’s residential design during his residency here in the 1920’s and 
1930’s.  Seeking a better climate for health reasons he left Carmel about 1933.  Very few of his 
house designs remain intact as constructed.  As reported by Mr. Seavey, its listing in the Carmel 
Historic Resource Inventory will fill a gap in Mr. Bigland’s known works in the City.  Perhaps 
more importantly, the property can be seen, as noted in Carmel’s Inventory, as a visual 
reminder of the community’s earlier taste for the kind of simplicity, articulated by the use of 
local building materials that continues to transcend the divisions of time and architectural 
fashions.   
 
Mr. Bigland, a native of Chester, England, came to the United States in the early 1920’s and 
settled in the Santa Barbara area.  He then moved to Carmel in 1925.  He brought with him the 
design and building technique of the English Arts and Craft tradition.  His early work in Carmel 
reflected the English Tudor Revival, with some of the story book detailing that Carmel was 
known for at the time.  His own half-timber home on Mt. View near Santa Fe reflects this 
aesthetic.  Mr. Bigland’s design vocabulary soon expanded to incorporate the popular Spanish 
Eclectic Revival.  Also, the North African influenced Markham house at the SW corner of 11th 
and Casanova is a good example of his range.  However, Mr. Bigland was most noted for his 
Tudor Revival residences which are represented in the 2003 Carmel Historic Resources 
Inventory. 
 
Staff analysis:  
 
CMC Section 17.32.040 states that the Director and the Historic Resources Board, based on 
recommendations of qualified professionals, shall use certain criteria in making determinations 
of eligibility of properties for the City’s Historic Inventory.  Below is a summary of four eligibility 
criteria that are evaluated in determining whether the property would qualify as historically 
significant followed with an analysis by staff. 
 
Criteria 1.   Should be representative of at least one theme included in the Historic Context  
  Statement.   
 
Per Section 1.4 of the Carmel Historic Context Statement, the development of Carmel can be 
organized into five broad themes:  Prehistory and Hispanic Settlement (1542-1846); Economic 

9



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
Development (1846-1965); Government, Civic and 5 Social Institutions (1903-1965); 
Architectural Development (1903-1965); and the Development of Arts and Culture (1904-1965).  
The discussion herein is relevant to the theme of Architectural Development (1903-1965).   
 
Staff Analysis:  In his analysis, Mr. Seavey states that the subject residence is the only identified 
example of a primarily vernacular residential design by Mr. Bigland.  As reported by Mr. Seavey, 
the listing of this residence in the Carmel Historic Resource Inventory will fill a gap in Mr. 
Bigland’s known works.   
 
The residence is a one-story, boxy, rambling, wood-framed, hip-and-gable roofed, vernacular 
cottage.  It is irregular in plan and resting on a raised foundation faced with brick veneer in a 
running bond.  There is interior space below the first floor on the west side elevation that 
appears to be at least six-feet high.  The exterior wall cladding above the brick face is a 
staggered-butt wood shingle.  In 2009, the then owners of the residence completely reshingled 
the residence, matching in-kind the original materials and staggered patterning.  New doors 
were added on the east side of the building and, per Mr. Seavey, appear consistent with the 
character of the residence, and are reversible [i.e., are not permanent and would allow original 
character to be easily be reinstated if sought by future residents].  The low-pitched hip-and 
gable roof system has wide, overhanging eaves with exposed rafter-tails having shaped ends.  
There is one exterior eave-wall brick chimney present, with two flues that are capped by arched 
brick spark deflectors.  Roofing consists of composition shingles that were added in 1996.    
Fenestration is irregular with a series of paired, multi-paned steel-casement windows in a 
variety of sizes and shapes.  Decorative planked wood shutters that once appeared on the 
larger windows are no longer present.  The primary entry is accessed via a raised open brick 
patio.  The patio was open at one time and was recently framed in with horizontal wood railing 
of various dimensions to address likely safety issues because of the vertical drop from the patio 
deck.  
 
In staff’s opinion, the subject residence is consistent with and representative of themes 
identified in Carmel’s Historic Context Statement. 
 
Criteria 2.   Shall retain substantial integrity. 
As stated in the Historic Preservation Ordinance 17.32.040: 
 

Integrity (association, feeling, setting location, design, materials and 
workmanship) shall be documented by comparing the existing condition of the 

10



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 5  
 

resource with the original building plans or early records and photographs, or 
other substantial evidence (e.g., literature review, Sanborn maps, architectural 
files, land records) and/or by physical inspection by a qualified professional. 
Integrity shall be assessed by (1) defining the physical features that must be 
present for a property to represent its significance, (2) determining whether these 
features are still visible enough to convey significance, (3) determining whether 
the property needs to be compared to other similar properties to understand its 
significance, and (4) determining which aspects of integrity are vital if the 
property is to qualify as a resource  

 
Staff Analysis:  While the structure maintains much of its original integrity, there have been 
several alterations to the residence over the years. 
 

1. Wood roof shingles replaced composite shingles; 
2. Wood shingle exterior replaced with in-kind new wood shingle; 
3. Front door has been replaced; 
4. Contemporary French doors installed on the east wall of the cottage; 
5. Elevated patio at front door now has wood railing; 
6. Decorative shutters that may or may not have been installed in 1930 are no longer 

present and likely removed during the 2009 shingle project. 
7. The building footprint as shown in the Sanborn Map shown in the DPR Form 523 (page 2 

of 5) conflicts with the actual building footprint as can be seen by visual inspection and 
as shown in a current real estate property information flyer for the property posted on 
site (as seen on 8/7/15) 

 
In staff’s opinion, the subject alterations have not substantially diminished the integrity of the 
cottage.  The original character is still well defined and easily seen.  The alterations have not 
significantly altered the appearance of the cottage and are reversable.  Attachment C includes a 
photograph of the painted-shingle residence prior to the 2009 installation of new shingles that 
can be used for comparison to the current residence.  
 
Criteria 3. Should be a minimum of 50 years of age.   
 
Staff Analysis:  The cottage and garage were completed in 1930 and thereby meets the 50 year 
requirement.   
 
Criteria 4.   To qualify for the Carmel Inventory, a historic resource eligible under California 
Register Criteria No. 3 (subsection (C)(3) of this section) only, should:  

11



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 6  
 
1.  Have been designed and/or constructed by an architect, designer/builder or 
contractor whose work has contributed to the unique sense of time and place recognized as 
significant in the Historic Context Statement; or 
 
2.  Have been designed and/or constructed by a previously unrecognized architect, 
designer/builder or contractor if there is substantial, factual evidence that the architect, 
designer/builder or contractor contributed to one or more of the historic contexts of the City 
to an extent consistent with other architects, designer/builders or contractors identified 
within the Historic Context Statement; or 
 
3.  Be a good example of an architectural style or type of construction recognized as 
significant in the Historic Context Statement; or  
 
4.  Display a rare style or type for which special consideration should be given. Properties 
that display particularly rare architectural styles and vernacular/utilitarian types shall be 
given special consideration due to their particularly unusual qualities.  Such rare examples, 
which contribute to diversity in the community, need not have been designed by known 
architects, designer/builders or contractors. Rather, rare styles and types that contribute to 
Carmel’s unique sense of time and place shall be deemed significant.  
 
Staff Analysis:  Subsections #1 and #2 require that the structure was designed by an architect 
whose work has contributed to the City.   As previously noted, the structure was built by Mr. 
Bigland, a noted Designer / Builder.   
 
Subsection #3 requires that it be a good example of an architectural style or type of 
construction recognized as significant in the Historic Context Statement.  As previously noted, 
the subject vernacular-style residence is recognized in the Historic Context Statement as being 
a significant style of architecture in Carmel during the 1920s.  Furthermore, as expressed by Mr. 
Seavey, the cottage still retains its historic context and integrity. 
 
Subsection #4 states that “rare architectural styles and vernacular/utilitarian types shall be 
given special consideration,” as they contribute to the diversity in the community.  The subject 
residence has been classified by Mr. Seavey as having a vernacular-style design and is the only 
example of Mr. Bigland’s vernacular-style work in Carmel. 
 

12



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 7  
 
The City’s Historic Inventory contains approximately 305 properties, of which 30 are developed 
with vernacular-style residences.  Staff has included, as Attachment D, Phase 1 Historic 
Evaluations from three other historic vernacular-style residences in Carmel that were built in 
the 1920s.  In staff’s opinion, the subject residence is important given its builder, rarity, age and 
style, and would contribute to the preservation of the City’s historic diversity.  
 
Applicant’s Comments:  The applicant hired Anthony Kirk, Ph.D., to review and comment on 
the Seavey DPR form 523 report (Refer to Attachment A).  The conclusion of this report is that 
the cottage should not be listed in the City’s Inventory of Historic Resources.  As stated by Mr. 
Kirk, the house should not be considered significant based on it being the only example of a 
particular design by an architect or builder, or master architect or builder.  He states that based 
on Bulletin 15 of the National Park Service, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for 
Evaluation, a “property must express a particular phase in the development of the master’s 
career, an aspect of his or her work, or a particular idea or them in his or her craft.  It must be 
[…] an important example of a building, not just the work of a master.   
 
Furthermore, Mr. Kirk conveys that the current foot print is different from what is depicted in 
Mr. Seavey’s DPR Sketch Map (page 2 of 5 of the DPR Form 253).  Review of the Sketch Map 
and a real estate flyer posted on the site shows that the building footprint on the east end of 
the house is different.  A set of modern French doors on the east end of the house of a 
bedroom is indicative that at least one remodeling project was completed on this part of the 
house.  Based on photos in the file, shutters were removed, a wood railing was installed at the 
main entry patio, composite shingles were applied thereby replacing the original wood shingles, 
and most significantly, the removal of the exterior cladding in 2009 and replacement with in-
kind irregularly spaced wood shingles.  The applicant submits that such work was not done to 
the standards of the Secretary of the Interior Standards for Rehabilitation, particularly 
Standards 2, 5, and 6, and that the cottage should be excluded from the Inventory because this 
work was not vetted through Federal historic renovation protocols. 
 
In addition, Mr. Kirk states that the Historic Context Statement [Section 5.4] includes a concise 
description of the early vernacular houses of the village, which were built “through the first 
decade of the twentieth century”, and which is significantly earlier than the subject cottage.   
He states that the subject cottage has only two of the twelve character-defining features 
associated with vernacular houses.   
 

13



APP 15-292 (Lonergan) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 8  
 
Staff Response to Applicant’s Comments:  Mr. Seavey identified Mr. Bigland’s various projects 
in the City and found the subject cottage to be an unknown example of his work and is a partial 
basis for Mr. Seavey’s conclusion that the cottage is appropriate for inclusion in the Inventory.  
The current footprint is different from the Sanborn Map included on page two of the DPR Form 
523, but Mr. Seavey concludes that the modifications that occurred do not diminish the 
integrity of the structure.  Other changes such as the new shingles installed in 2009, a railing 
around the patio, and composite roof-shingles also do not diminish the historical integrity as 
they are all easily reversible.  
 
The City’s Historic Context Statement describes the typical characteristics found in the historic 
Carmel cottages and Mr. Kirk lists them in a matrix in his report.  Staff concurs that the subject 
cottage has some of but not all of the characteristics, but as the City’s approach to determining 
whether a property should be in the Inventory is premised on a variety of architectural 
characteristics, as well as other factors defined in the Historic Context Statement, and does not 
mandate that a percentage of the characteristics be present to determine historic value, there 
is latitude on the part of the decision makers in determining what is appropriate to include in 
the Inventory.  
  
Alternatives:  The Historic Resources Board may determine that the subject residence is 
ineligible for placement on the City’s Historic Inventory, in which case staff would issue a 
Determination of Historic Ineglibitliy.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Attachment A – DPR Form 523 A/B by Mr. Kent Seavey  
• Attachment B – Property Owner Appeal Letter /Anthony Kirk, Ph.D., Letter 
• Attachment C – Photos of residence prior to new shingles 
• Attachment D – Phase 1 Historic Evaluations from three other Vernacular-style 

Residences in Carmel built in the 1920s 
 
 

14



15

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



16



17



18



19



20

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



21



22



23



24



25



26



27

mwiener
Typewritten Text

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment C



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

Historic Resources Board 

November 16, 2015 

 
To: Chair Dyar and Board Members 

From: Marc Wiener, Acting Community Planning and Building Director 

Submitted by: Matthew Sundt, Contract Planner 
 
Subject:  Consideration of a Design Study (DS 15-302) for alterations to a historic 

residence located in the Single-Family Residential (R-1) Zoning District  
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Issue a Determination of Consistency with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards  
 
Application: DS 15-302 (Hitch) APN:  010-154-011 
Block:   131                                  Lots:  3  
Location: San Carlos Street, 2 SW of 11th  
Applicant:  Claudio Ortiz Property Owner:  Thomas Hitch 
 
Background 
The existing residence, known as the “Fonteneau House”, is a Craftsman Bungalow built in 1922 
by Michael J. Murphy, a noted Carmel builder.  It is included in the Carmel Historic Survey of 
1996, whereupon a DPR523 Form for this residence was prepared.  The residence is listed in the 
2003 Carmel Historic Resource Inventory and is also on the California Register of Historical 
Resources.   
 
The “Fonteneau House” is significant in the area of architecture under criterion established by 
the California Register of Historical Resources, PRC Section 5031 (3), as an excellent and original 
example of a Craftsman Bungalow designed by Carmel master builder M.J. Murphy.  It also 
meets the significance criterion established by the City of Carmel’s Historic Preservation 
Ordinance, Chapter 17.41 of the Municipal Code.  The property meets at least three of the 
criteria enumerated in Section 17.41.040 of the ordinance, (1) Cultural Heritage: because its 
architectural character has value as part of the residential development of the community; (2) 

37



DS 15-302 (Hitch) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 2  
 
Architectural Distinction: because it embodies the distinguishing characteristics of the 
Craftsman Bungalow style of architecture; (5) Notable Construction: because it is a basically 
unaltered example of the design work of noted Master builder.  
 
According to the City’s property records and Monterey County Assessor records, in 1971 an 
adjoining garage and loft were lost to fire.  Some of the damage was repaired.  During the 
1980’s an open, arcaded porch was filled in by glazing, and an interior wall removed.  A rear 
deck was also added.  In 2000, the current owners remodeled part of the interior and built the 
present rear addition.  Character defining features include a rectangular plan, wood shingle clad 
exterior walls, medium-pitched front-gabled roof with wood shingles, and original entry 
configuration on east elevation with undated multi-paned fixed wood windows.   
 
Proposed Project 
The existing residence is 1,642.9 square feet in size with a second floor.  The applicant is 
proposing to bump out the back (west) wall of the first floor master bedroom by 121.4 square 
feet.  This would shrink the existing deck on the west and south side.  Included in the remodel is 
a spiral stair case to be added to the south side of the existing deck and removal of the deck’s 
existing west landing and stairs.  A new landing and stairs is proposed on the west side that will 
provide access to the basement/garage directly from the rear yard.  The applicant is proposing 
to replace the exterior finish materials in-kind.  One new window will be installed on the south 
side and will match the style of the existing bedroom doors.  An existing rectangular window on 
the west side of the existing bedroom will be salvaged and reinstalled on the newly constructed 
west elevation.  The residence will remain within its allowable square footage.  All work shall 
conform to the approved plans except as conditioned by this permit.       
 
Staff Analysis 
 
Historic Evaluation Summary: The California Environmental Quality Act requires environmental 
review for alterations to historic resources that are not consistent with the Secretary of the 
Interior’s Standards.  The proposed alterations were reviewed by the City’s Historic 
Preservation Consultant and reported in the Phase II Historic Assessment, and includes an 
analysis of the proposed changes based on the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the 
Treatment of Historic Properties (Attachment C).  The assessment concludes that the project, as 
shown on the project plans dated September 27, 2015, would be consistent with the Standards. 
 
 

38



DS 15-302 (Hitch) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 3  
 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
Standard #9 states that “the new work will be differentiated from the old and will be compatible 
with the massing, size, and scale to protect the historic integrity of the property.”  Standard #10 
states “New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a 
manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property 
and its environment would be unimpaired.” 
 
The applicant is proposing a 121.4 square-foot addition at the rear of the circa 2000 addition to 
an historic residence built in 1922.  The proposed addition would use the same kind of exterior 
siding shingle as that of the original house as well as the add-on of 2000.  However, as required 
in Standard #9, new construction is to be differentiated from the old.  This was not done for the 
addition of 2000.  To require differentiation of the exterior associated with the current proposal 
would complicate matters as it would imply that the 2000 remodel is part of the original house 
by virtue of the original house and 2000 remodel having the exact same exterior shingles and 
appearance.  To avoid this conflict, it would be necessary to redo the exterior of that portion of 
the house that was remodeled in 2000 so that it would be differentiated from the historic 
portion of the residence.  However, it may not be practical or realistic to change the existing 
circa 2000 exterior.  Regardless, for the proposed addition to be considered consistent with the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties, the proposed 
shingles should be either a different size, or color, or a completely different exterior should be 
considered, such as board and batten.  Staff has conditioned this project to include shingles 
that are differentiated from the original by having staggered butts.   
 
Alternatives:  The staff recommendation is to issue a determination that the application, as 
conditioned by staff, is consistent with the Secretary’s Standards.  Alternatively, there is an 
after-the-fact differentiation that would require the property owner to be willing to do the 
following work:  either, (1) the Board could request that the exterior of the circa 2000 remodel 
be changed concurrent with the proposed project, whereby the 1922 residence is differentiated 
from the current proposal and the year 2000 addition simultaneously by installing shingles with 
staggered butts, or (2) remove a vertical section of shingles at the place where the 1922 
building and the 2000 addition meet, and install a vertical piece of 1” x 6” redwood at this 
juncture with which the shingles would butt up to.  Both the north and south elevations would 
require either of the above alternative forms of delineations.  Also, the Board could find the 
application inconsistent with the Secretary’s Standards, which would result in either the 
applicant withdrawing the project or require additional CEQA analysis to evaluate impacts on 
historic resources.   

39



DS 15-302 (Hitch) 
November 16, 2015 
Staff Report  
Page 4  
 
Environmental Review:  The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires 
environmental review for alterations to historic resources that are not consistent with the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards.  If the alterations are consistent with the standards, 
potential historic resource impacts under CEQA do not require further analysis.  Staff concludes 
that the proposed alterations would be consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
and therefore, do not require additional environmental analysis.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

• Attachment A – Conditions of Approval 
• Attachment B – Phase II Historic Assessment / DPR 523 Form 
• Attachment C – Secretary of the Interior Standards 
• Attachment D – Project Plans 

40



 
Attachment A – Conditions of Approval 

 
CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA 

 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY PLANNING AND BUILDING 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
DS 15-302 
Mr. and Mrs. Hitch 
San Carlos Street, 2 SW of 11th 
Block:  131, Lot: 3 
APN:  010-154-011  
 
AUTHORIZATION:   
 
1. This Determination of Consistency (DS 15-302) authorizes alterations to an existing one-

story 1,642.9-square foot residence that includes a 332.8-square foot basement/garage 
area, as shown on the plans dated September 27, 2015.  The applicant is proposing to 
bump out the back (west) wall of the first floor master bedroom by 121.4 square feet.  
This would shrink the existing deck on the west and south side.  Included in the remodel 
is a spiral stair case to be added to the south side of the existing deck and removal of 
the deck’s existing west landing and stairs.  A new landing and stairs is proposed on the 
west side that will provide access to the basement/garage directly from the rear yard.  
Exterior finish will be wood shingles with staggered butt.  One new window will be 
installed on the south side that will be differentiated from the historic windows.  An 
existing rectangular window on the west side of the existing bedroom will be salvaged 
and reinstalled on the newly constructed west elevation.  The residence remains within 
its allowable square footage.  All work shall conform to the approved plans except as 
conditioned by this permit.    

 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS:   
 
2. Prior to the beginning of construction, the applicant shall convene a pre-construction 

meeting to include the contractor and the City’s Project Planner to ensure compliance 
with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties. 
 

3. The new window on the south wall will be differentiated from the historic windows. The 
applicant shall work with staff to ensure compliance with this condition.     
 

4. An existing rectangular window on the west elevation will be salvaged and reinstalled to 
the newly constructed west elevation. 

41



 
 
DS 15-302 (Hitch) 
November 16, 2015 
Conditions of Approval 
Page 2 
 

 
5. To delineate the proposed addition from the original building shingles will be installed 

that have a staggered butt. 
 
*Acknowledgement and acceptance of conditions of approval. 
 
 
______________________  _________________  ___________ 
Property Owner Signature  Printed Name   Date 
 
 
 
Once signed, please return to the Community Planning and Building Department. 

42



43

mwiener
Typewritten Text
Attachment B



44



45



46



47



48



49



ATTACHMENT C   
 

SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS FOR THE TREATMENT 
OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES (Rehabilitation) 

 
1. “A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that 
requires minimal change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and 
environment." 
 
2. "The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The 
removal of historic materials or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a 
property shall be avoided." 
 
3. "Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and 
use.  Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other buildings, shall not be 
undertaken."  
 
4. "Most properties change over time; changes that have acquired historic 
significance in their own right shall be retained and preserved."  
 
5. "Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property shall be preserved." 
 
6. "Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where 
the severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, 
where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by 
documentary, physical, and pictorial evidence." 
 
7. "Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to 
historic materials shall not be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, 
shall be undertaken using the gentlest means possible." 
 
8. "Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected 
and preserved.  If such resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be 
undertaken. 
 
9. "New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not 
destroy historic materials that characterize the property.  The new work shall be 
differentiated from the old and be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 
architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its 
environment." 
 
10. "New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in 
such a manner that if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired." 

50



51



52



53



54



55


	REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
	A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	B.  TOUR OF INSPECTION
	C.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	D.  APPEARANCES
	E.   CONSENT AGENDA
	J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS
	K.  ADJOURNMENT


	Hitch (DS 15-302) - Agenda Packet.pdf
	DS 15-302 (Hitch) - Attach A - Conditions of Approval.pdf
	CITY OF CARMEL-BY-THE-SEA
	DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY PLANNING AND BUILDING
	CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
	DS 15-302


	HRB agenda - 111615.pdf
	REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
	A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
	B.  TOUR OF INSPECTION
	C.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	D.  APPEARANCES
	E.   CONSENT AGENDA
	J.  BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS
	K.  ADJOURNMENT






